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OPINION

Wallach, Judge: |

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Peerless Clothing International, Inc. (“Peerless USA”)
contests the appraisement and assessment of certain duties by De-
fendant United States Bureau of Customs and Border Protection
(“Customs”) on garments imported into the United States, and seeks
a refund of all challenged duties that were paid. Peerless USA claims
that Customs violated: (1) 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) by modifying “treat-
ment” of its goods without the statutorily required review and com-
ment period, and (2) 19 U.S.C. § 1401(a) by replacing Peerless’s ex-
pense allocation methodology that complied with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP"). Jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1581(a) is uncontested by the parties. The court concludes that
Customs did not violate 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c), but did improperly re-
place the importer's GAAP-compliant allocation for the expense cat-
egories at issue other than warehousing costs. Accordingly, Plain-
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tiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment is Granted in Part and Denied
in Part, and Defendant’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment is
Granted in Part and Denied in Part.

1
BACKGROUND

This dispute challenges Customs’ allocation of expenses between
Peerless USA and Peerless Clothing, Inc. (“Peerless Canada”). Peer-
less USA and Peerless Canada are separate legal entities, Plaintiff’s
Statement of Material Facts for Which There is No Genuine Issue to
be Tried (“Plaintiff's Facts”) T 4; Defendant’s Response to Plaintiff’s
Statement of Material Facts Not in Issue (“Defendant’s Fact Re-
sponse”) 1 4, that share common senior management and corporate
officers. Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for
Summary Judgment (“Plaintiff’s Motion”) at 4 n.1. Peerless Canada
is the largest manufacturer of men’s wool suits in North America
and created Peerless USA in the 1980s to import merchandise into
the United States. Id. at 4. Peerless Canada operates a plant in
Montreal. Defendant’s Additional Statement of Undisputed Material
Facts 1 1 (“Defendant’s Additional Facts”); Plaintiff’s Response to
Defendant’s Additional Statement of Undisputed Facts (“Plaintiff’s
Response to Additional Facts”) I 1. Peerless USA is a wholesaler of
men’s clothing having offices in New York and a warehouse and dis-
tribution center in St. Albans, Vermont. Plaintiff's Facts § 5; Defen-
dant’s Fact Response § 5. Although Peerless USA and Peerless
Canada are collectively referred to as “Peerless”, Peerless USA is the
Plaintiff in this action as the importer of record. Complaint 11 2, 3;
Answer 11 2, 3.

The merchandise at issue in this case was purchased by Peerless
USA through related party transactions, imported into the United
States, and either delivered to customers or shipped to the Peerless
USA warehouse in Vermont. Plaintiff’s Facts | 6; Defendant’s Fact
Response § 6. For Customs’ appraisement, Peerless Canada allo-
cated expenses between itself and Peerless USA by including the
percentage of the expenses it deemed in support of the production of
goods in the cost of goods sold to Peerless USA, and excluding the ex-
penses it deemed allocable to Peerless USA's sales and sales support
activities. Plaintiff's Facts  11; Defendant’s Fact Response | 11.
Peerless claims to have used a computed value method to calculate
the intercompany price. Plaintiff’s Facts  27; Plaintiff's Motion at 9
(citing Ex. 12, Deposition of Gerald Horn at 16-17). Peerless calcu-
lated intercompany price using two types of invoices that Peerless
Canada issued to Peerless USA: (1) the cost of manufacturing known
as “cut, make, & trim” (“CMT"); and (2) the cost of fabric known as
material purchase recovery (“MPR”). Plaintiff's Facts § 27; Defen-
dant’s Fact Response 1 27.
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In 1997, Customs initiated an audit of Peerless USA's importation
of wool suits, sports jackets, and trousers for the period between
April 1, 1996 and September 30, 1997. Plaintiff’'s Facts 9 40, 41;
Defendant’s Fact Response 1 40, 41. Customs examined three types
of invoices that Peerless Canada issued to Peerless USA: (1) CMT,;
(2) MPR; and (3) warehousing, general and administrative expenses
known as “Warehousing and Expense Allocation” ("WEA”). Defen-
dant’s Confidential Memorandum in Support of Its Cross-Motion for
Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion (“Defen-
dant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion”) at 3, 24-25. The WEA invoices
between Peerless Canada and Peerless USA consist of eleven ex-
pense categories and were not declared to Customs. Id. at 25-26; De-
fendant’'s Additional Facts | 8; Plaintiff's Response to Additional
Facts 9 8. Peerless USA claims that WEA is comprised of “only non-
dutiable ‘below the line’ expenses: warehousing costs and non-
production related selling expenses incurred by Peerless USA in
Montreal.” Plaintiff's Response to Defendant’s Cross-Motion for
Summary Judgment and Reply to Defendant’s Opposition to Plain-
tiff’'s Motion for Summary Judgment (“Plaintiff’s Reply and Re-
sponse to Cross-Motion”) at 19—-20.

According to Peerless USA, “the sum of CMT and MPR invoices
alone was adequate to recover the costs of production plus a profit
(markup)”. Plaintiff’'s Motion at 9. Peerless USA did not declare the
WEA warehousing costs incurred in Canada because it maintains
that they are non-dutiable. Plaintiff's Reply and Response to Cross-
Motion at 20. For other WEA categories, Peerless USA states that al-
though its allocation “roughly correlated to the 90/10 percent ratio of
sales in the United States versus Canada, where appropriate Peer-
less would allocate to Peerless Canada an enhanced amount for cer-
tain items, to reflect the higher degree to which the manufacturer/
seller Peerless Canada benefitted from the expense item.” Plaintiff’s
Motion at 33. Peerless USA contends that these non-warehousing ex-
penses on the WEA invoice “are unrelated to production and the cost
of goods because the production-related expenses and overhead are
already allocated to, and captured in, the CMT invoice.”! Plaintiff’s
Response and Cross-Motion at 20.

Customs auditors concluded “that most of the expenses on the
WEA invoices that were paid by Peerless USA were not attributable
to Peerless USA, but were actually Peerless Canada’s own general
and administrative expenses. Therefore, the undeclared payments
Peerless USA made to Peerless Canada should have been part of the
dutiable value of the imported merchandise.” Defendant’s Opposition

1Plaintiff characterizes the warehousing and expense allocation (“WEA”") invoice as “con-
stitut[ing] the ‘balance’ of the intercompany overhead expenses; such expenses were in-
curred by Peerless Canada in Montreal and charged back to Peerless USA.” Plaintiff's Post-
Oral Argument Brief (November 9, 2007) at 4.
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and Cross-Motion at 3. A draft report of the audit findings was pro-
vided to Peerless USA in 1998. Id. at 23-24. Before finalizing their
report, Customs auditors sought internal advice from Customs
Headquarters that resulted in the issuance of Customs Headquar-
ters Ruling Letter Number 547108 (March 28, 2000) (“HQ 547108").
Plaintiff’s Facts 1 43, 44; Defendant’s Fact Response 1 43, 44.
This internal advice ruling was neither published in the Customs
Bulletin nor made available for public comment before liquidation.
Plaintiff's Facts 1 46; Defendant’'s Fact Response 1 46.

In HQ 547108, Customs agreed with the preliminary audit finding
that Peerless USA owed additional dutiable value on all but three of
the WEA categories.? Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion EXx.
3, HQ 574108. The WEA warehouse costs invoiced by Peerless
Canada to Peerless USA for the storage of the fabric pre-production
and the storage of merchandise before shipping were found to be
fully dutiable. Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 30, HQ
547108 at 6. For the remaining WEA categories found dutiable,
“Customs auditors determined that the ratio of costs incurred by
Peerless Canada to Peerless USA was approximately 9.2 to 1. Ac-
cordingly, 92.2 percent of the management salaries, data entry sala-
ries, office salaries and supplies, computer supplies, telephone [ex-
penses] and buying salaries were to be included in the price of the
imported clothing.” Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 30,
HQ 547108 at 9.

Customs issued the audit report in January 2001 that relied upon
HQ 547108. Plaintiff's Motion Ex. 7, Customs Audit Report 112-97—
IMO-002 (January 23, 2001) (“Audit Report”) at 8-9. Customs calcu-
lated that Peerless owed additional dutiable value of $8,662,795 for
fiscal year 1996 and $12,268,073 for fiscal year 1997. Id. at 9. Cus-
toms further calculated that Peerless USA's: 226 fiscal year 1996 en-
tries were undervalued by $4,339,576, resulting in an applicable loss
of revenue totaling $278,033.82; and 464 entries for fiscal year 1997
were undervalued by $12,267,917, resulting in an applicable loss of
revenue totaling $832,046.51. Id. at 10. Customs liquidated all of
Peerless USA's entries under protest with an advance in value, in-
cluding the subject entries. Plaintiff's Facts { 45; Defendant’s Fact
Response | 45. Peerless USA's protest was filed on September 6,
2001, and denied through Customs Headquarters Ruling Letter
Number 548065 (September 6, 2002) (“HQ 548065"”). Defendant’s
Opposition and Cross-Motion Ex. 4, HQ 548065 at 1, 9. Plaintiff ini-
tiated this action on August 5, 2003.

2The categories found not dutiable were: shipping truck rentals, selling expenses, and
truck rental expenses. Memorandum of Law in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary
Judgment (“Plaintiff’s Motion”) at 12; Defendant’'s Memorandum in Support of Its Cross-
Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion (“Defendant’s Oppo-
sition and Cross-Motion”) Ex. 3, HQ 547108 (March 28, 2000) (“HQ 547108") at 3.
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11
STANDARD FOR DETERMINATION OF CASE

A motion for summary judgment should be granted if “the plead-
ings, discovery and disclosure materials on file, and any affidavits
show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that
the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” USCIT
R.56(c); see Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S. Ct.
2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986). An issue of fact is to be considered
“genuine” when “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could re-
turn a verdict for the nonmoving party,” and a fact will be material
when it “might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing
law.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S. Ct.
2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986).

An agency’s regulation that implements a statute is “given control-
ling weight unless [it is] arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary
to the statute.” Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council,
Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843-44, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 81 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1984).
Additionally, in matters of statutory construction, this court will
show “great deference to the interpretation given the statute by the
officers or agency charged with its administration.” Udall v. Tall-
man, 380 U.S. 1, 16, 85 S. Ct. 792, 13 L. Ed. 2d 616 (1965). The agen-
cy’s construction need not be the only reasonable one, or even the
same result this court would have reached had the question arisen
in the first instance in a judicial proceeding. Id. (citing Unemploy-
ment Comp. Comm’n of Alaska v. Aragon, 329 U.S. 143, 153, 67 S.
Ct. 245,91 L. Ed. 136 (1946)).

In Customs cases, the court is charged with making findings of
fact and conclusions of law de novo. 28 U.S.C. § 2640(a). When mak-
ing these determinations, the role of the court is to reach the correct
result. Jarvis Clark Co. v. United States, 733 F.2d 873, 878 (Fed. Cir.
1984). Although Customs classification and valuation rulings are not
entitled to Chevron deference, they are entitled to a degree of respect
proportional to their “power to persuade.” United States v. Mead
Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 235, 121 S. Ct. 2164, 150 L. Ed. 2d 292 (2001)
(quoting Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 140, 65 S. Ct. 161,
89 L. Ed. 124 (1944)); Christensen v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576,
587, 120 S. Ct. 1655, 146 L. Ed. 2d 621 (2000). These rulings, “while
not controlling upon the courts by reason of their authority, do con-
stitute a body of experience and informed judgment to which courts
and litigants may properly resort for guidance.” Skidmore, 323 U.S.
at 140. The amount of deference afforded an agency’s determination
varies with the circumstances present in each case; in deciding the
weight of a ruling, the court will consider such factors as “the degree
of the agency’s care, its consistency, formality, and relative expert-
ness, and . . . the persuasiveness of the agency’s position.” Mead, 533
U.S. at 228 (citations omitted).
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v
DISCUSSION

Plaintiff first argues that Customs violated 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) in
changing the “treatment” of Peerless USA's entries without provid-
ing a notice and comment period as the statute requires. Defendant
counters that Peerless USA fails to meet the statutory and regula-
tory requirements to establish a violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c).
Plaintiff next argues that Customs improperly replaced Peerless’s al-
location methodology that complied with GAAP and 19 U.S.C.
8 1401l1a. Defendant responds that it was not required to follow Peer-
less’s allocation and that Customs’ appraisal is deserving of defer-
ence. Each of Peerless’s claims are considered in order below.

A
Customs Did Not Violate the Treatment Statute

The “no change” method of liquidation at issue constitutes “treat-
ment” pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c). The parties present conflict-
ing interpretations of the regulation implementing the treatment
statute concerning the relevant time period for evidence of treat-
ment. This conflict need not be reconciled because, using either time
period, Peerless’s entries that received treatment were not “substan-
tially identical” to those at issue in HQ 547108, as the treatment
statute requires. Therefore, Customs did not violate 19 U.S.C.
8 1625(c) despite the lack of publication and comment period for HQ
547108.

1
Statutory and Regulatory Overview

The treatment statute was enacted as part of the North American
Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act, Pub. L. No. 103-182
§ 625(c), 107 Stat. 2057 (1993). It provides, in pertinent part, as fol-
lows:

(c) Modification and revocation.
A proposed interpretive ruling or decision which would— . . .
(2) have the effect of modifying the treatment previously ac-
corded by the Customs Service to substantially identical trans-
actions;

shall be published in the Customs Bulletin. The Secretary shall
give interested parties an opportunity to submit, during not
less than the 30-day period after the date of such publication,
comments on the correctness of the proposed ruling or decision.
After consideration of any comments received, the Secretary
shall publish a final ruling or decision in the Customs Bulletin
within 30 days after the closing of the comment period. The fi-
nal ruling or decision shall become effective 60 days after the
date of its publication.
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19 U.S.C. § 1625(c). Legislative history evinces an intent of Con-
gress to “provide ‘assurances of transparency concerning Customs
rulings and policy directives . . . ."” Sea-Land Serv., Inc. v. United
States, 239 F.3d 1366, 1373 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (quoting H.R. Rep. No.
103-361(l), at 124 (1993), reprinted in 1993 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2552,
2674).

This court interpreted the treatment statute in the Precision
cases. See Precision Specialty Metals, Inc. v. United States, 24 CIT
1016, 116 F. Supp. 2d 1350 (2000) (“Precision 1"); Precision Specialty
Metals, Inc. v. United States, 25 CIT 1375, 182 F. Supp. 2d 1314
(2001) (“Precision 11”). Precision | held that “treatment” in the stat-
ute refers to “prior actions” of Customs rather than only to formal
policies and administrative rulings. 24 CIT at 1043—-44. This inter-
pretation was also followed in Precision Il. 25 CIT at 1388. Precision
I set forth the following treatment analysis: “[section] 1625(c)(2) is
violated when: (1) an interpretive ruling or decision (2) effectively
modifies (3) a ‘treatment’ previously accorded by Customs to (4) ‘sub-
stantially identical transactions’, and (5) that interpretive ruling or
decision has not been subjected to the notice-and-comment process
outlined in § 1625(c)(2).” 24 CIT at 1040.

Subsequent to the Precision cases, Customs promulgated 19 C.F.R.
§ 177.12(c)(1)(ii) to clarify its role in implementing the treatment
statute. The regulation provides as follows:

The determination of whether the requisite treatment occurred
will be made by Customs on a case-by-case basis and will in-
volve an assessment of all relevant factors. In particular, Cus-
toms will focus on the past transactions to determine whether
there was an examination of the merchandise (where appli-
cable) by Customs or the extent to which those transactions
were otherwise reviewed by Customs to determine the proper
application of the Customs laws and regulations. For purposes
of establishing whether the requisite treatment occurred, Cus-
toms will give diminished weight to transactions involving
small quantities or values, and Customs will give no weight
whatsoever to informal entries and to other entries or transac-
tions which Customs, in the interest of commercial facilitation
and accommodation, processes expeditiously and without ex-
amination or Customs officer review.

19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(1)(ii).

This regulation and the underlying treatment statute were ap-
plied in the Motorola cases. See Motorola, Inc. v. United States, 28
CIT 1310, 350 F. Supp. 2d 1057 (2004) (“Motorola 1), aff'd in part,
vacated in part, and remanded by Motorola, Inc. v. United States,
436 F.3d 1357 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (“Motorola I1"). At issue was whether
Customs violated 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) with respect to circuits used in
cellular phone battery packs by modifying treatment accorded to
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substantially identical transactions without the requisite publication
and comment period. This court initially found that Custom’s liqui-
dation of entries through a “bypass” procedure that used random
sampling did constitute treatment and held that 19 C.FR.
8 177.12(c)(1)(ii) was an impermissible construction of the treat-
ment statute. Motorola I, 350 F. Supp. 2d at 1072-74.

The Federal Circuit reversed in finding 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(1)(ii)
to be a reasonable interpretation of the treatment statute. Motorola
I, 436 F.3d at 1366-67 (citing Chevron, 467 U.S. at 842-43). In
Motorola 11, the Federal Circuit remanded as follows:

Customs’ construction is a permissible one in light of the ambi-
guity of the term “treatment” as it applies to the issue pre-
sented in this case, i.e., entries liquidated under Customs’ “by-
pass” procedures. ... We do not address the validity of the
entire regulation for all purposes....On remand, the trial
court will have to address whether the particular bypass en-
tries at issue were processed without review or examination by
Customs, and thus fall within the scope of the regulation or
whether the goods were examined or the entries otherwise re-
viewed in a manner that would take them out of the reach of
the regulation.

Motorola 11, 436 F.3d at 1366-67.

The Federal Circuit, however, affirmed this court’s finding that
only four of the eight circuits were “substantially identical” under 19
U.S.C. § 1625(c). Motorola 11, 436 F.3d at 1367. Motorola | deter-
mined that only half of the types of circuits under review were “sub-
stantially identical” to those that had been liquidated through the
bypass procedure; the “nickel-chemistry based” circuits were found
to be “substantially identical” to those previously liquidated,
whereas those using “lithium-ion battery cells” were not. Motorola I,
350 F. Supp. 2d at 1074-75. The Federal Circuit affirmed by holding
that “it was reasonable for the trial court to hold that the nickel
chemistry parts were ‘substantially identical’ to the bypass parts,
but that the lithium chemistry parts were not.” Motorola 11, 436 F.3d
at 1368.

2
Customs’ “No Change” Review of Peerless USA's Entries
Constitutes Treatment

Peerless USA contends that treatment under 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)
and 19 C.FR. § 177.12(c)(1)(ii) occurred when Customs liquidated
its entries “no change,” meaning without change in the appraised
values.” Plaintiff’'s Motion at 17. According to Peerless USA, the “no
change” determinations qualify because in each an Import or Entry
Specialist “reviews an entry summary and agrees with the entered
values and rates of duty, or there is a net difference of less than $10
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between the total estimated duties and total liquidated duties . ..”
Id. at 24 (citing Ex. 32, Customs Directive 099 3550-071, “Change”
and “No Change” Liquidation Notations (July 27, 1994) (“‘No
Change’ Directive”)). Peerless USA asserts that thousands of its en-
tries liquidated ‘no change” by Customs over “the decade prior to the
subject entries” constitute treatment because of the frequent interac-
tion with Customs concerning specific requests for information. 1d.
at 26. Peerless USA emphasizes that these reviews were not of
transactions involving “small quantities or values.” Id. (quoting 19
C.FR. 8 177.12(c)(1)(ii)).

The Precision cases are instructive as to what actions constitute
treatment, despite their pre-dating 19 C.F.R. 8§ 177.12(c)(1)(ii). In
promulgating its final regulation, Customs relied upon Precision Il
having “specifically noted ‘the consistent trail of correspondence and
submissions in which Precision and its agents describe the
entries’ . .. and reiterated its holding in Precision | that ‘treatment’
looks to the actions of Customs rather than a ‘position’ or ‘policy’ of
Customs.” T.D. 02-49, 19 CFR Part 177, Administrative Rulings, 67
Fed. Reg. 53,483, 53,490-91 (August 16, 2002) (quoting Precision |1,
25 CIT at 1385 n.11, 1388). Further commenting on the importance
of consistent action, Customs explained that “the key issue in deter-
mining whether a treatment exists is whether, and if so the manner
in which, Customs has taken action on past transactions.” Id. at
53,492.

This court’'s most recent Motorola decision asked “whether there
has been a sufficient examination or review by Customs” to deter-
mine if actions constitute treatment under 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) and
19 C.FR. § 177.12(c)(1)(ii). Motorola, Inc. v. United States, 462 F.
Supp. 2d 1367, 1375 (CIT 2006) (“Motorola 1117), aff'd, Motorola, Inc.
v. United States, 509 F.3d 1368 (Fed. Cir. 2007). Upon remand from
the Federal Circuit, Motorola 111 concluded that “a random review of
two to ten percent of all bypass entries is insufficient to constitute
treatment.” Motorola 111, 462 F. Supp. 2d at 1378. As Peerless points
out, the random sampling at issue in Motorola “would have included
all bypassed entries from all importers in a given district or region.”
Plaintiff's Motion at 25 (emphasis omitted) (citation omitted).

Customs’ “no change” determinations in this case constitute treat-
ment under 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) and 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(1)(ii). In
contrast to the “bypass” procedure consisting of random sampling in
Motorola, the “no change” determinations involve specific review of
individual transactions. See “No Change” Directive. Moreover, Cus-
toms took an active role in the “no change” determinations as dem-
onstrated by its interaction in response to Peerless USA's “CF-28"
Requests for Information. See id. at 13-17 (citing Exs. 15, 16, 23-26,
29, 30, 32). This communication constitutes a “consistent trail of cor-
respondence and submissions in which” Peerless described its en-
tries to Customs. See Precision Il, 25 CIT at 1385 n.11. The regular
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and active review by Customs in the “no change” determinations
therefore qualifies as treatment in this case.

3
Plaintiff and Defendant Provide Conflicting Interpretations
of the Relevant Time Period For Evidence of Treatment

The treatment statute does not set forth the period of time for
which evidence of treatment is relevant. See 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c).
Customs’ implementing regulation contains a two-year time period,
providing that in order to demonstrate treatment:

There must be evidence to establish that:

(A) There was an actual determination by a Customs officer
regarding the facts and issues involved in the claimed treat-
ment;

(B) The Customs officer making the actual determination
was responsible for the subject matter on which the determina-
tion was made; and

(C) Over a 2-year period immediately preceding the claim of
treatment, Customs consistently applied that determination on
a national basis as reflected in liquidations of entries or recon-
ciliations or other Customs actions with respect to all or sub-
stantially all of that person’s Customs transactions involving
materially identical facts and issues; . . .

19 C.F.R. 8 177.12(c)(1)(i) (emphasis added). The parties disagree as
to the relevant time period for determining whether a treatment oc-
curred and provide conflicting interpretations of the regulation.
Defendant interprets the relevant time period to be September 6,
1999, through September 6, 2001. Defendant’s Opposition and
Cross-Motion at 14. Relying upon the language of “2-year period im-
mediately preceding the claim” in 19 C.F.R. 8 177.12(c)(1)(i)(C), De-
fendant takes the position that because Peerless USA first claimed
“treatment” when the protest was filed, “the only relevant period
within which evidence of treatment is relevant” is the two years im-
mediately before September 6, 2001. Id. (emphasis omitted). Defen-
dant supports its position by stating that the two-year requirement
originates from a former regulation having language that “[t]he evi-
dence of past treatment by [Customs] shall cover the 2-year period
immediately prior to the date of the ruling letter.”® Defendant’s
Supplemental Memorandum (November 13, 2007) at 2 (emphasis

3Plaintiff finds support for its interpretation in this former regulatory language because
there is an explicit cap on the period of time, in contrast to the language of 19 C.F.R.
§ 177.12(c)(1)(i), which does not contain any such limitation. Plaintiff's Response to Defen-
dant’s Post-Oral Argument Supplemental Memorandum (November 19, 2007) at 4.



U.S. COURT OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 17

omitted) (quoting 19 C.FR. § 177.9(e)(2) (1989)).* Defendant con-
tends that its interpretation is compelled by the plain meaning of
the regulation and that the two-year period immediately preceding
the date an importer first applies to Customs seeking a determina-
tion regarding treatment is the exclusive time for which evidence of
treatment is relevant. Defendant’s Reply Memorandum in Support
of Its Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to
Plaintiff's Motion (“Defendant’s Reply”) at 5.

Plaintiff interprets the relevant time period to be September 1995
through July 1997, “using the earliest entries listed in plaintiff's
summons.” Plaintiff’'s Reply and Response to Cross-Motion at 5. Ac-
cording to Plaintiff, this is merely “the minimum range of time that
Customs had to have consistently applied its treatment; nothing in
the regulation prohibits the claimant from offering evidence that
Customs applied its treatment” over a longer time-frame. Id. at 4
(emphasis omitted). Plaintiff rejects Defendant’s interpretation as
conflicting with both the regulatory language that makes the time
period triggered by the “claim” for treatment, not the date of protest,
and the statutory purpose that is specifically directed at modifica-
tion of “treatment previously accorded”. Id. at 2-3; 19 U.S.C.
8 1625(c)(2). Plaintiff summarizes its position as follows:

Defendant’s interpretation, unsupported by any authorities, is
completely irrational and hostile to the purpose of the statute
and regulation, as it has the potential to, and in this case does,
limit an importer’s evidence of “prior” action by Customs to en-
tries and liquidations that occurred after the entries for which
treatment is claimed!

Plaintiff’s Reply and Response to Cross-Motion at 2 (emphasis omit-
ted).

Plaintiff also advances a policy-based challenge to Defendant’s in-
terpretation. According to Plaintiff, measuring the relevant time pe-
riod from the date of protest following liquidation will allow Customs
to control claims for treatment by manipulating the liquidation
date.® Id. at 3 (citing United States v. Cocoa Berkau, Inc., 990 F.2d

4Defendant notes Customs’ explanation that the two-year period is appropriate in the
new regulation because 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c)(2) “was modeled in part from the text of former
section 177.9.” Defendant’s Supplemental Memorandum (November 13, 2007) at 3 (citing
T.D. 02-49, 19 CFR Part 177, Administrative Rulings, 67 Fed. Reg. 53,483, 53,494 (August
16, 2002) (“T.D. 02-49")). Defendant further points out that Customs changed the two-year
period to apply “immediately preceding the claim of treatment” because the new triggering
date would be “more relevant in identifying the 2-year period for purposes of protecting the
treatment rights of a person.” Id. (citing T.D. 02-49, 67 Fed. Reg. at 53,494).

SDefendant responds to this argument by stating that Plaintiff “could have applied to
Customs for a treatment determination well before the September 6, 2001 protest was
filed. . . . Any negative consequences suffered by Peerless USA are clearly the results of
plaintiff’s own actions.” Defendant’s Reply Memorandum in Support of Its Cross-Motion for
Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Plaintiff’'s Motion at 6-7.
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610, 614 (Fed. Cir. 1993) for the proposition that this court and the
Federal Circuit disfavor and consistently reject interpretations of
law that put control of limitations periods solely in the hands of one
party). Plaintiff further points out that the regulation was adopted
in 2002, subsequent to the entries in question, although it acknowl-
edges that this fact alone is not dispositive. Id. at 4 (citing Motorola
11, 436 F.3d at 1366).

The parties’ conflicting interpretations of 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)
(2)(i) need not be reconciled. Because the treatment statute is not
violated under either interpretation, as set forth below, whether and
to what extent Defendant’s interpretation of the two-year require-
ment is entitled to deference need not be determined. See Defen-
dant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 14 (arguing that “the term
‘treatment’ as used in § 1625(c)(2) is ambiguous and therefore Cus-
toms’ regulation which clarified what comprises a treatment pro-
vided an appropriate and permissible construction of the statute”)
(emphasis omitted); Plaintiff's Reply and Response to Cross-Motion
at 2 (arguing against deference “[b]ecause Customs’ interpretation is
neither a rational nor permissible interpretation of the statute, and
in fact conflicts with the regulatory language”).

4
The Transactions Are Not “Substantially Identical” As the
Treatment Statute Requires

Under the treatment statute, “the requirement that transactions
be ‘substantially identical’ does not require complete identity.” Cal.
Indus. Products, Inc. v. United States, 436 F.3d 1341, 1352 (Fed. Cir.
2006) (holding that “substantially identical transactions” does not re-
quire the same parties to the transactions).® In an analysis upheld
by the Federal Circuit, this court interpreted the “substantially iden-
tical” requirement as follows:

The plain meaning of the phrase “substantially identical” can
be discerned from the dictionary definitions of each term. The
term “substantial” is defined as “being of considerable impor-
tance, value, degree, amount of extent.” The term “identical” is
defined as “being the samel,] exactly equal and alike[,] having
such similarity or near resemblance as to be fundamentally
equal or interchangeable.

Motorola I, 28 CIT at 1328-29 (citations omitted); see Motorola Il,
436 F.3d at 1367 (“[w]e do not believe that the trial court applied the

6The Federal Circuit held that 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(1)(iii)(A) was an impermissible con-
struction of 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) for limiting treatment consideration to the claimant’s “own
transactions” contrary to the clear intent of Congress. Cal. Indus. Products, Inc. v. United
States, 436 F.3d 1341, 1356 (Fed. Cir. 2006).
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wrong legal standard.”). Applying this standard to the time period
advocated by both Defendant and Plaintiff, the transactions receiv-
ing treatment are not “substantially identical” to those in HQ
547108. Customs was consequently not required to publish HQ
547108 and give Peerless USA an opportunity to comment before lig-
uidating the merchandise with increased duties, and therefore did
not violate 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c).’

(a)
The Transactions Are Not “Substantially Identical” Using
Defendant’s Interpretation

Defendant contends that review is limited to Peerless USA's trans-
actions within two years preceding the claim of treatment: between
September 6, 1999 and September 6, 2001. During this period, Cus-
toms liquidated 236 Peerless USA entries, with 153 of those entries
identified as having been liquidated “no change.”® Defendant’s Oppo-
sition and Cross-Motion Ex. 5, Chi S. Choy Declaration (“Choy Dec.”)
9 3. Of the “no change” liquidations, 116 were consumption entries,
the majority of which were non-apparel items.® Id. 71 3, 10-14. Be-
cause the vast majority of Peerless USA's entries between September
6, 1999 and September 6, 2001 do not involve the sale of men’s cloth-
ing, they are not substantially identical transactions to those in HQ
547108. Plaintiff does not dispute this outcome, but instead counters
that Defendant uses “the wrong period of time” in analyzing whether

7 Defendant also alleges that Peerlesss USA's failure to inform Customs of the payments
it made for warehousing, general and administrative expenses was a material omission. See
Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 18-19. The applicable regulation provides in
pertinent part:

Customs will not find that a treatment was accorded to a person’s transactions if: . . .

(C) The person made a material false statement or material omission in connection
with a Customs transaction or in connection with the review of a Customs transaction
and that statement or omission affected the determination on which the treatment claim
is based; . ..

19 C.FR. § 177.12(c)(1)(iii). Because there was no violation of the treatment statute in this
case, Defendant’s argument that Peerless violated 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(1)(iii) will not be
addressed.

8 Additionally, 67 entries were liquidated with increased duties assessed. Defendant’s
Opposition and Cross-Motion Ex. 5, Chi S. Choy Declaration (“Choy Dec.”) 1 15. All 67 en-
tries are listed on the summons filed in this action. Id.

90f the 116 consumption items, 55 were articles returned to the U.S. after export for al-
teration or repair, 18 were entered as articles of plastic, 10 were entered as machines, 8
were entered as articles exported and then returned having been advanced in value or im-
proved in condition by a manufacturing process while abroad, 3 were entered under the pro-
vision for wood clothes hangers, 6 were entered as woven labels, and 4 were entered under
the heading for paper labels. Choy Dec. {1 10-12. Further, 6 consumption entries were: (1)
entered under the heading for samples, (2) entered as metal mountings and fittings, (3) en-
tered as “other” articles of iron or steel, (4) entered under the heading providing for ceramic
ware, (5) entered as sewing thread, and ( 6) entered as woven fabric. I1d. 1 13. The remain-
ing consumption entries were entered as wearing apparel or textile and apparel goods from
Canada or Mexico. Id. { 14.
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the transactions are “substantially similar” to those in HQ 547108.
Plaintiff's Reply and Response to Cross-Motion at 6. Under Defen-
dant’s interpretation of 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(1)(i), Customs did not
violate 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c).

(b)
The Transactions Are Not “Substantially Identical” Using
Plaintiff’'s Interpretation

Under the interpretation advocated by Plaintiff, the relevant pe-
riod is, at a minimum, between September 1995 and July 1997. Dur-
ing this two-year period, Customs liquidated approximately 940 en-
tries as “no change”. Plaintiff’s Response to Additional Facts Ex. A,
Declaration of Robert E. Casey 1 4-5. Plaintiff contends that the
relevant period for considering evidence of treatment is the decade
“between 1990 and 2000,” during which time “Customs made more
than 3000 ‘no change’ liquidations of plaintiff’s garments”.*° Plain-
tiff's Motion at 18. Consideration of this timeframe, however,
reaches the same result that Peerless USA's transactions are not
substantially identical to those in HQ 547108.

Defendant provides evidence of significant changes in the makeup
of the value factors and intercompany dealings between Peerless
USA and Peerless Canada so as to render transactions during Peer-
less USA's alleged treatment period dissimilar. Defendant’s Opposi-
tion and Cross-Motion at 15-18. These changes include the tripling
in size of Peerless’s data entry department, the implementation of a
computer tracking system in Montreal, the addition of data input
personnel and the creation of a human resources department by
Peerless Canada. Id. at 17— 18; Defendant’s Reply at 9. Peerless’s ex-
pense allocation “percentages were examined on a monthly basis and
adjusted annually”. Plaintiff's Motion Ex. 13, Affidavit | of Carmen
Lamonica T 9. As Plaintiff explained to Customs, Peerless USA’s
sales and costs increased greatly throughout the decade, necessitat-
ing an annual adjustment of the intercompany pricing. See Defen-
dant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion Ex. 6, letter from Gerald Horn,
Sandler, Travis & Rosenberg, P.A., to Virginia Brown, Acting Chief,
Value Branch, Customs (March 21, 2001), at 2 (“[o]ver the last de-
cade, the level of sales to Peerless USA has increased threefold. As a
result of this increase, the costs associated with both the production
and sale of the merchandise have increased greatly.”); Plaintiff's Mo-
tion Ex. 16, letter from Gerald Horn, Soller, Shayne & Horn, to J.
Induni, Import Specialist, Customs (December 21, 1995), at 2 (CMT
prices are “adjusted on a seasonal basis”).

10pjaintiff calculates that 93% of its entries between 1990 and 1999 were liquidated as
“no change” by Customs and explains that Customs liquidated with refunds to Peerless
USA in all other instances. Plaintiff's Motion Ex. 9, Affidavit of Gerald Horn 1 8, 9, 12.
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Peerless’s management salaries demonstrate the dissimilarity of
the transactions receiving treatment during the period that Peerless
USA advocates and those in HQ 547108. The allocation schedule re-
veals the percentage of these salaries attributable to Peerless USA
having “changed from 50% ($7,368,425.00 CDN) in 1996 to 90%
($10,104,247.00) in 1997 to 75% ($5,456,760.00) in 1998". Defen-
dant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 16. Consequently, there was
more than “only an insubstantial difference between” Peerless USA's
transactions receiving the treatment and those at issue in HQ
547108. See Cal. Indus. Products, Inc., 436 F.3d at 1352. Plaintiff ac-
knowledges this fluctuation, but claims that it is the result of non-
dutiable bonuses. Plaintiff’'s Reply and Response to Cross-Motion at
8-9. Defendant disputes the Peerless management salaries being
comprised of bonuses. Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at
16 n.6; Defendant's Reply at 14; Defendant's Fact Response  33.
Without having to ascertain the makeup of Peerless’s management
salaries, the substantial change in allocation percentage between
1996 and 1998 establishes that the transactions liquidated by Cus-
toms using the “no change” review are not “substantially identical
transactions” to those in HQ 547108.

Plaintiff is unable to establish that Peerless USA made the same
additional undeclared payments to Peerless Canada because the un-
derlying factors changed constantly. To prevail under its interpreta-
tion of 19 C.F.R. § 177.12(c)(1)(i), Plaintiff must demonstrate that
the HQ 547108 entries and those throughout the 1990s—or at least
between 1995 and 1997—"reflect[ed] substantially identical produc-
tion costs, production overhead and intercompany dealings between
Peerless USA and Peerless Canada.” Defendant’s Reply at 9. Plain-
tiff contends that the imported merchandise receiving treatment
similarly “involved dutiable suits, jackets and pants”. Plaintiff's Re-
ply and Response to Cross-Motion at 7. However, this is not a classi-
fication case where the determination hinges primarily upon the
characteristics of the imported merchandise. See Defendant’s Reply
at 8-9; Peugeot Motors of Am., Inc. v. United States, 8 CIT 167, 171,
595 F. Supp. 1154 (1984) (“[a]ppraisement is conceptually different
from classification.”). While the intercompany dealings need not be
“complete[ly] identi[cal]”, Cal. Indus. Products, Inc., 436 F.3d at
1352, they are sufficiently dissimilar in this case. That Customs ulti-
mately employed a uniform numerical factor to increase the declared
values does not render the transactions “substantially identical” for
purposes of the treatment statute, as Plaintiff argues. See Plaintiff’s
Reply and Response to Cross-Motion at 8. Using Plaintiff’s proposed
time-period for reviewing evidence of treatment, Customs did not
violate 19 U.S.C. § 1625(c) despite the lack of notice and comment
period for HQ 547108.
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B
Customs Improperly Replaced Peerless’s Allocation of
Non-Warehousing Expenses

At issue is Peerless’s method of allocating WEA expenses between
Peerless USA and Peerless Canada. Plaintiff and Defendant dis-
agree as to whether this allocation complies with GAAP and 19
U.S.C. § 1401a. Although Peerless complied with GAAP in Canada,
Customs appropriately found the warehousing expenses to be en-
tirely dutiable based upon prior Customs determinations. For the re-
maining WEA expenses found dutiable, however, Customs improp-
erly replaced Peerless’s allocation. Upon remand, Customs is
instructed to reallocate the duties for the following expense catego-
ries in accordance with Peerless's methodology: management sala-
ries, data entry salaries, office salaries and supplies, computer sup-
plies, telephone expenses, and buying salaries.

1
Statutory Overview

The appraisement of imported merchandise is governed by 19
U.S.C. 8 1401a. One of several methods explicitly authorized is
“computed value”.'* I1d. § 1401a(a)(1)(E). The statute provides that
computed value is to include “an amount for profit and general ex-
penses equal to that reflected in sales of merchandise of the same
class or kind as the imported merchandise that are made by the pro-
ducers in the country of exportation for export to the United States.”
Id. § 1401a(e)(1)(B). The statute further defines GAAP and provides
the circumstances when Customs is to accept a GAAP-compliant ap-
praisement, as follows:

information that is submitted by an importer, buyer, or pro-
ducer in regard to the appraisement of merchandise may not be
rejected by the customs officer concerned on the basis of the ac-
counting method by which that information was prepared, if
the preparation was in accordance with generally accepted ac-
counting principles. The term “generally accepted accounting
principles” refers to any generally recognized consensus or sub-
stantial authoritative support regarding—

11The statute defines “Computed value” as the sum of:

(A) the cost or value of the materials and the fabrication and other processing of any
kind employed in the production of the imported merchandise;

(B) an amount for profit and general expenses equal to that usually reflected in sales
of merchandise of the same class or kind as the imported merchandise that are made by
the producers in the country of exportation for export to the United States;

(C) any assist, if its value is not included under subparagraph (A) or (B); and

(D) the packing costs.

19 U.S.C. § 1401a(e)(1).
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(A) which economic resources and obligations should be re-
corded as assets and liabilities;

(B) which changes in assets and liabilities should be re-
corded;

(C) how the assets and liabilities and changes in them
should be measured;

(D) what information should be disclosed and how it should
be disclosed; and

(E) which financial statements should be prepared.

The applicability of a particular set of generally accepted ac-
counting principles will depend upon the basis on which the
value of the merchandise is sought to be established.

Id. § 1401a(g)(3) (emphasis added).

The statute gives importers flexibility with respect to their method
of appraisement. Legislative history evinces an intent of Congress
“to allow the importer . . . to prepare his figures in any one of a vari-
ety of acceptable methods, and Customs will not reject the manner
in which such information is organized, so long as the preparation
and methods are in accordance with [GAAP].” H.R. Rep. No. 96-317,
at 86 (1979), as reprinted in 3 Legislative History of the Trade Agree-
ments Act of 1979. Importers may comply with GAAP in the country
of export, provided that the value figures are not in question or oth-
erwise unreliable. See LaPerla Fasions, Inc. v. United States, 22 CIT
393, 401, 9 F. Supp. 2d 698 (1998) (citing VWP of Am., Inc. v. United
States, 21 CIT 1109, 1117-18, 980 F. Supp. 1280 (1997), vacated on
other grounds and remanded, 175 F.3d 1327 (Fed. Cir. 1999)).

Customs is not compelled to accept an importer’s allocation that
complies with GAAP in its country of origin. VWP, 21 CIT at 1118
(“value comparisons using allocations of costs verified and in compli-
ance with GAAP do not necessarily provide . . . accurate information
with respect to the import statute in the U.S.”). Customs determines
the “applicability” of a GAAP-compliant appraisement “depend[ing]
upon the basis on which the value of merchandise is sought to be es-
tablished.” 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(g)(3).*? Legislative history confirms
that the statute “should not be construed in a manner which forces
[Customs] to accept the information solely because it is prepared and
submitted in a manner which is in accordance with [GAAP]". S.R.
No. 96-249, at 118 (1979), reprinted in 1979 U.S.C.C.A.N. 381, 504
(emphasis omitted). “GAAP, as a general matter, is only an account-
ing method, and does not speak to whether a[n] item may be duti-
able for Customs purposes.” Merck, Sharp & Dohme Intl. v. United
States, 20 CIT 137, 144 n.5, 915 F. Supp. 405 (1996).

12This statutory language overcomes Plaintiff's contention that Customs must accept a
GAAP-compliant methodology “without further adjustment.” See Plaintiff’s Motion at 29
(citing Customs Headquarters Ruling Number 543412 (April 3, 1985)).
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Although Customs valuation rulings are not entitled to Chevron
deference, they are entitled to a degree of respect proportional to
their power to persuade. Mead, 533 U.S. at 235 (quoting Skidmore,
323 U.S. at 140); Christensen, 529 U.S. at 587. When determining
whether to accept Customs’ appraisement, a court can balance the
evidence concerning GAAP compliance provided by the parties. See
Merck, 20 CIT at 144. The Federal Circuit rejected an importer’s ap-
praisement despite compliance with GAAP in Samsung Electronics
Am., Inc. v. United States, 195 F.3d 1367 (Fed. Cir. 1999). There, the
importer’s appraisement was not accepted because “the set of GAAP
employed by Samsung, i.e., annual cost accounting, is not ap-
plicable . . . and more specific proof is necessary, which may be ob-
tained and offered under a different set of GAAP.” Id. at 1372. Cus-
toms must therefore have a sufficient justification before it can
reject and replace an importer’s GAAP-compliant intercompany ex-
pense allocation with an allocation that employs an alternate meth-
odology.

2.
Peerless’s Allocation Complied With GAAP and 19 U.S.C.
§ 1401a(e)

At issue is Peerless’s allocation of WEA expenses among Peerless
Canada and Peerless USA. Peerless allocated the entire warehous-
ing expenses to Peerless USA, while the remaining categories found
dutiable were allocated between Peerless USA and Peerless Canada
on a percentage basis. Plaintiff provides affidavits, depositions, and
log sheets explaining its allocation. See affidavits attached to Plain-
tiff’s Motion Ex. 20, letter from Gerald Horn, Soller, Shayne & Horn,
to David Spence, Office of Regulations and Rulings/ Value Branch,
Customs (September 29, 1999) (“1999 Horn Letter”). Peerless’s allo-
cation relied upon the relative percentage of sales of the related com-
panies and management's estimates of how much time and effort
were applied to a particular expense, along with the degree to which
each company benefited from the expense. Id. at 32—-33 (citing affida-
vits attached to 1999 Horn Letter and Plaintiff’'s Motion Ex. 19, Affi-
davit Il of Carmen Lamonica 7).

The methodology that Peerless used to allocate expenses among
Peerless USA and Peerless Canada complied with GAAP in Canada.
An independent accounting firm employed by Peerless verified the
allocation being compliant with Canadian GAAP. Id. Ex. 35, Affida-
vit of Michael Frankel (“Frankel Aff.”) § 5. According to the Cana-
dian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA"), the GAAP stan-
dard applicable to related party overhead is that of reasonableness
based upon professional judgment. Id. Ex. 33, CICA Handbook Ex-
cerpts § 1000 1 .43, .44. The accountant employed by Peerless ex-
plains that its allocation satisfies this standard because Peerless
Canada rendered services on behalf of Peerless USA, and “incurred
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expenses and in accordance with GAAP recognized revenues (arising
from the sale of goods) for the services provided to Peerless USA,”
which was charged back for those services by Peerless Canada.
Frankel Aff. 19 6, 25-26, 28—29.

The report submitted by Defendant’s expert does not undermine
compliance of Peerless’s allocation with Canadian GAAP. The ac-
countant employed by Peerless concludes that its allocation remains
reasonable in light of the concerns that Defendant’s expert raises. Id.
9 36. Defendant’s expert, when addressing the standard with which
to judge related party overhead, only finds that there is “some ques-
tion” whether Peerless’s chosen method is reasonable, and provides
scenarios in which the allocation could possibly be unreasonable or
in which a different result might be reached, rather than definitive
examples of unreasonable outcomes. Id. Ex. 36, Expert Report of
Carolyn Orth, Zeifman & Company, LLP, at 12, 23. Defendant pro-
vides alternative allocation methodologies, but fails to establish that
the method employed by Peerless is unreasonable. The independent
accountant employed by Peerless adequately addresses the objec-
tions raised by Defendant’s expert and justifiably concludes that
Peerless’s overhead expense allocation is reasonable. Therefore,
Peerless’s chosen method for allocating expenses among Peerless
USA and Peerless Canada is in accord with Canadian GAAP.

Peerless further complied with 19 U.S.C.§ 1401a in its use of com-
puted value. Defendant contests Peerless’s resort to computed value
without first having demonstrated a reason to “bypass the value
statute’s hierarchical nature” necessary to justify the use of com-
puted value. Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 35. How-
ever, Defendant provides no support for such a prerequisite in 19
U.S.C. § 1401a. Defendant next challenges Peerless's compliance
with 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(e)(1)(B) in alleging that its computed value
assessment failed to show consistency with other producers in
Canada. Id. At issue is an evaluation of the intercompany pricing be-
tween Peerless USA and Peerless Canada. See Plaintiff’s Motion Ex.
17, KPMG Transfer Pricing Study Update 1997 Report (“KPMG
Study”). Defendant contends that the KPMG Study is irrelevant be-
cause it does not compare Peerless to Canadian manufacturers. De-
fendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 35.

The statutory requirement that computed value be consistent with
other producers in the country of export is not absolute. When an ex-
porting manufacturer makes a diligent effort to find a comparable
manufacturer in the country of export but cannot do so, it can use
profits of manufacturers in other comparable countries or actual
profits in making its computed value determination. See Meadows
Wye & Co., Inc. v. United States, 58 Cust. Ct. 746, 750-51 (1967),
and Meadows Wye & Co., Inc. v. United States, 64 Cust. Ct. 713,
717-18, 314 F. Supp. 54 (1970) (applying principle to constructed
value under the previous statute). The KPMG Study establishes that
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Peerless USA lacks a comparable competitor in Canada, rendering it
impossible to compare its methods to manufacturers of merchandise
of the same class or kind from its country of origin. See KPMG Study
at 32. The KPMG Study further includes detailed analyses of the
chosen companies and their financial data, as well as the companies
it rejected for lack of compatibility. Id. Apps. 1-3. Plaintiff was dili-
gent in seeking comparable manufacturers and therefore did not vio-
late 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(e) in its use of computed value.

3
Customs Must Accept Peerless’s Allocation For WEA
Categories Other Than Warehousing

Customs is not automatically required to accept an importer’s ex-
pense allocation that complies with GAAP and 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(e).
See 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(g)(3); Samsung, 195 F.3d at 1372; Merck, 20
CIT at 144 n.5; VWP, 21 CIT at 1118. To the extent that Customs
provides a persuasive rationale, it is entitled to a proportional de-
gree of deference. Mead, 533 U.S. at 235. Customs here provides a
sufficient justification to reject Peerless’s allocation of the warehous-
ing expenses but not for the remaining WEA categories found duti-
able. Therefore, upon remand, Customs is instructed to reallocate
the duties for the following expense categories in accordance with
Peerless’s methodology: management salaries, data entry salaries,
office salaries and supplies, computer supplies, telephone expenses,
and buying salaries.

(@)
Customs Appropriately Found Peerless’s WEA Warehousing
Category Dutiable

Customs completely reversed Peerless’s allocation of WEA ware-
housing expenses that were entirely excluded from CMT and MPR.
In finding the warehouse expenses fully dutiable, Customs relied
upon previous determinations from 1992 and 1995. Audit Report at
8; HQ 547108 at 6. In Customs Headquarter Ruling Letter Number
544758 (February 21, 1992) (“HQ 544758"), Customs “determined
that in the instance when the importer paid the warehousing
charges to the seller, but not to the unrelated third party, the
charges were part of the price actually paid or payable for the mer-
chandise.” HQ 547108 at 6. In Customs Headquarters Ruling Num-
ber 545663 (July 14, 1995) (“HQ 545663"), Customs “determined
that fees paid to the warehouse proprietor, a party related to the
manufacturer, for pre-production warehousing costs incurred for raw
materials were part of the price actually paid or payable for the im-
ported merchandise.” Id. Relying on these determinations, Customs
reached the following conclusion:

As the warehousing expense, in this case, is for storage of the
fabric pre-production and storage of merchandise before ship-
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ment, this expense is related to the imported merchandise. Ad-
ditionally . . . it is paid by the buyer directly to the seller.
Therefore, we find that the entire warehouse expense is in-
cluded in the price actually paid or payable.

Id.

The materials for Peerless USA were warehoused in the Peerless
Canada manufacturing facility. Plaintiff’'s Facts I 12; Defendant’s
Fact Response  12. “Peerless USA, at all times, was the owner of
the fabric and . . . also the owner of the finished garments”. Frankel
Aff.  18. Plaintiff contends that because the materials were owned
by an importer that is related to the manufacturer, a 1990 Customs
determination deems the warehousing charge non-dutiable. Plain-
tiff’s Post-Oral Argument Brief (November 9, 2007) at 3 citing Cus-
toms Headquarters Ruling Number 544323 (March 8, 1990) (“HQ
544323")). However, Defendant distinguishes HQ 544323 because,
“in it, no payments were made from the buyer/importer to the seller
or party related to the seller for such warehousing services.” Defen-
dant’'s Memorandum in Response to Plaintiff's Post Argument Brief
(November 26, 2007) at 4-5 (citing HQ 545663). Defendant further
explains that HQ 545663 is on point; there, materials were ware-
housed in the same complex as the manufacturing facility and Cus-
toms held that the fee paid for storage was dutiable. Id. Because
Peerless USA's materials were warehoused in the same building as
the manufacturing plant, Customs appropriately followed HQ
545663 to find Peerless USA's WEA warehousing expenses dutiable.
Seeid. at 4 n.3.

HQ 547108 “may surely claim the merit of its writer’s thorough-
ness, logic and expertness, its fit with prior interpretations, and any
other sources of weight.” Mead, 533 U.S. at 235. Customs’ allocation
of Peerless USAs warehousing expenses fits squarely with HQ
545663 and HQ 544758, and is distinguishable from HQ 544323. Re-
viewing courts are to consider “consistency with earlier” determina-
tions in ascertaining whether to afford deference to Customs. Id. at
228 (citing Skidmore, 323 U.S. at 140). Customs conducted a “thor-
ough and carefully reasoned analysis” in finding Peerless USA's
warehousing expenses entirely dutiable in HQ 547108. See Four
Seasons Produce, Inc. v. United States, 25 CIT 1395, 1403 (2001). Al-
though Peerless’s allocation comports with GAAP and 19 U.S.C.
8 140l1a(e), Customs properly rejected its “applicability” for the
WEA warehousing expenses. 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(g)(3).

©)
Customs Must Accept Peerless’s Allocation For the
Remaining Dutiable WEA Categories

In contrast to the warehousing expenses, Customs provides an in-
sufficient basis to depart from Peerless’s allocation of the remaining
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WEA categories found dutiable. Plaintiff demonstrates that Peer-
less's GAAP-compliant methodology resulted in an appropriate allo-
cation for these expense categories that include the following:

* Management salaries: Peerless establishes that “almost all of
management’s time is spent in day-to-day, hands-on, oversee-
ing of the operation of Peerless [USA]. Accordingly, it would
be appropriate for the substantial portion of the salaries paid
to be apportioned to the U.S. company.” 1999 Horn Letter at
10, affidavits attached thereto. Peerless approximated that
90% of management’s time was allocated to activities benefit-
ting Peerless USA. Plaintiff’'s Motion at 33.

» Data entry salaries: Peerless allocated approximately 95% of
these expenses to Peerless USA because “virtually all of the
data entry salaries . .. were paid to employees who entered
the Peerless USA salesman’s customer orders.” Id. at 34 (cit-
ing Ex. 3, Deposition of Carmen Lamonica at 37-40).

e Computer supplies: Peerless establishes that these expenses
“overwhelmingly” serviced Peerless USA, as the “entire com-
puter system developed in Montreal was used and main-
tained to process Peerless USA's orders.” Id. at 35 (citing Ex.
11, Deposition of Barbara Segal at 10, 26, 32).

Customs asserts that its allocation is “commensurate with the
work performed and the risk taken by [Peerless Canada] and [Peer-
less USA]". Id. Ex. 7, Audit Report at 9. However, Customs adduces
no evidence of fraud, falsehood, or inaccuracy with respect to Peer-
less's GAAP-compliant allocation. Customs’ audit acknowledges the
adequacy of Peerless’s intercompany pricing. See id. at 5 (“the in-
voices covering the shipment of garments to the U.S. were accurately
recorded. . .. [W]e concluded that [Peerless Canada’s] system for re-
cording costs associated with the production of the wool garments
was adequate.”). Moreover, the evidence that Customs provides is ei-
ther nonexistent or not persuasive. In contrast to the testimony sup-
porting Peerless’s computer expense allocation, Customs based its
allocation on an “observation . . . that the computer is extensively
used to support the production process.” HQ 547108 at 8. Similarly,
Customs replaced Peerless’s management salary allocation that was
supported by testimony merely because all but one manager “are do-
miciled in Canada, receive their compensation from Peerless and
spend approximately 85 percent of their time in Montreal.” Id. at 7.

Customs was therefore not justified in allocating the dutiable non-
warehousing WEA categories based on “the ratio of costs incurred”
between Peerless USA and Peerless Canada. See id. at 8. Without
substantiation, Customs is not entitled to replace Peerless's GAAP-
compliant expense allocation with its own. See 19 U.S.C.
§ 1401a(g)(3). Balancing the evidence favors the importer, as in
Merck where the plaintiff:
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provided ample evidence to show that its method of determin-
ing cost of production is the predominant method used through-
out the industry, and is in accordance with GAAP. In contrast,
the defendant failed to present any evidence, either directly or
through cross-examination of Merck’s witnesses, showing that
the costs that Merck excluded were clearly production related.

Merck, 20 CIT at 144. Defendant here similarly fails to sufficiently
counter the importer's GAAP-compliant methodology, and
unconvincingly flips the argument in stating that “Customs’ apprais-
ers found no evidence to establish that those costs were unrelated to
the imported merchandise.” Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-
Motion at 28. Without a more reasoned basis, Customs is not able to
replace Peerless's GAAP-compliant appraisal.

This outcome is in accord with Samsung. There, the Federal Cir-
cuit rejected an importer’s GAAP-compliant methodology because
the set of GAAP used did not match the set needed to obtain an accu-
rate accounting. Samsung, 195 F.3d at 1372. Defendant here con-
tends that the expenses should or could be allocated differently, but
gives no reason as to why the set of GAAP used by Peerless is inap-
propriate. See Defendant’s Opposition and Cross-Motion at 38-39
(arguing that under computed value, the expenses “may well be part
of an amount for Peerless Canada’s general expenses and profit that
must be added to the cost of labor, cost of materials and cost of pack-
ing.”). In contrast to the importer in Samsung, Peerless’s allocations
for the non-warehousing WEA categories apply a set of GAAP that
responds effectively to the “basis upon which the value of merchan-
dise is sought to be established.” 19 U.S.C. § 1401a(g)(3).

For the foregoing reasons, this case is remanded to Customs to re-
allocate the following expense categories in accordance with Peer-
less’s methodology: management salaries, data entry salaries, office
salaries and supplies, computer supplies, telephone expenses, and
buying salaries.

\Y
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff’'s Motion for Summary Judg-
ment is Granted in Part and Denied in Part, and Defendant’s Motion
for Summary Judgment is Granted in Part and Denied in Part. Cus-
toms’ determination is partially sustained and partially remanded
for action consistent with this Opinion.
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OPINION

Restani, Chief Judge: This matter is before the court on the Min-
istry of Commerce, People’s Republic of China’s (“Government of
China”) motion to intervene in GPX International Tire Corp. v.
United States, Consol. Court No. 08-00285, pursuant to USCIT Rule
24 and 28 U.S.C. § 2631(j)(1)(B) (2006). Plaintiffs GPX International
Tire Corporation (“GPX”) and Hebei Starbright Tire Co., Ltd.
(“Starbright”) seek judicial review of the Department of Commerce’s
(“Commerce”) determinations imposing both antidumping (“AD”)
and countervailing (“CVD”) duties on certain pneumatic off-the-road
(*OTR”) tires from the People’s Republic of China. See Certain New
Pneumatic Off-the-Road Tires From the People’s Republic of China:
Notice of Amended Final Affirmative Determination of Sales at Less
Than Fair Value and Antidumping Duty Order, 73 Fed. Reg. 51,624
(Dep't Commerce Sept. 4, 2008); Certain New Pneumatic Off-the-
Road Tires From the People’s Republic of China: Final Affirmative
Countervailing Duty Determination and Final Negative Determina-
tion of Critical Circumstances, 73 Fed. Reg. 40,480 (Dep’'t Commerce
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July 15, 2008). The Government of China’s current motion arises out
of plaintiffs’ apparent inability to continue to pursue vigorously judi-
cial review of these determinations due to financial constraints. Be-
cause the Government of China has not demonstrated good cause for
the untimely filing of its motion to intervene, the court denies the
motion.

On September 9, 2008, plaintiffs filed complaints challenging
Commerce’'s AD and CVD determinations, as well as a motion for a
temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction, alleging
that collection of full AD and CVD deposits would cause irreparable
harm. The court denied plaintiffs’ motion on November 12, 2008 and
denied plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration on December 30, 2008.
The Government of China moved to intervene on January 13, 2009.

Pursuant to USCIT Rule 24(a), motions to intervene must be filed
within thirty days of service of the complaint. USCIT R. 24(a). A
court may permit late intervention only for good cause, upon a show-
ing of “(1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect; or (2)
under circumstances in which by due diligence a motion to inter-
vene . . . could not have been made within the 30-day period.” Id. In
determining what type of neglect would be deemed excusable, this
court considers “all relevant circumstances surrounding the party’s
omission,” including “the danger of prejudice to the [non-movant],
the length of the delay and its potential impact on judicial proceed-
ings, the reason for the delay, including whether it was within the
reasonable control of the movant, and whether the movant acted in
good faith.” Siam Food Prods. Pub. Co. v. United States, 24 F. Supp.
2d 276, 279 (CIT 1998) (internal quotation marks and citation omit-
ted); see also Pioneer Inv. Servs. Co. v. Brunswick Assocs. Ltd. P'ship,
507 U.S. 380, 395 (1993).

The Government of China maintains that its untimely submission
was caused by “excusable neglect” because the need to intervene be-
came apparent only when it learned that plaintiffs no longer had the
financial means to fully and adequately pursue their appeals of the
administrative decisions. (Mot. to Intervene by the Gov't of the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China 2, 6 (“Gov't of China Mot.”); see also Bar-
ringer Aff. 1 8 (“It was [the Government of China’s] understanding
that GPX and Starbright would be able to continue participating in
the court appeals, provided that the Court granted the preliminary
injunction sought by GPX and Starbright.”).) The Government of
China further contends that the approval process to file a motion to
intervene on its behalf is complex and time consuming and that a de-
cision was made to wait until a final resolution in the preliminary
injunction proceedings before seeking authorization to intervene.
(Gov't of China Mot. 5.)

The Government of China also alleges that granting the motion
would not prejudice the other parties, as it intends to address only
those issues already set forth in plaintiffs’ amended complaints. (I1d.)
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Commerce, however, contends that it would be prejudiced because it
would have to “devote additional resources and analyze different
portions of the record at this late stage to respond to China’s brief.”
(Def.'s Opp’n to Mot. to Intervene by the Gov't of the People’'s Repub-
lic of China 7.) Commerce alleges this delay is particularly prejudi-
cial because GPX filed a motion for leave to amend its complaint
prior to the Government of China’s motion to intervene in order to
raise issues that would be subsequently argued by the Government
of China once they intervened. (Id. at 8.)*

It is likely some prejudice would result from granting the movant'’s
request to intervene, but underlying merits litigation did not proceed
while litigation on plaintiffs’ motion for a preliminary injunction was
ongoing, and a briefing schedule has only recently been issued. The
court is more troubled by the Government of China’s conscious deci-
sion to delay intervention pending the outcome of the preliminary in-
junction and in particular, its belief that plaintiffs could continue to
maintain their appeals if the preliminary injunction were granted. A
preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy, and preliminary
relief from deposit requirements is granted only in the rarest of cir-
cumstances. See Queen’s Flowers de Colombia v. United States, 947
F. Supp. 503, 506 (CIT 1996). The Government of China was aware
of plaintiffs’ heavy burden at the preliminary injunction phase and
assumed the risk that the court would deny the injunction. Further,
the Government of China’s argument concerning the slow bureau-
cratic process for intervention approval is belied by its ability to file
a motion to intervene approximately fifteen days after it allegedly
became aware of its need to intervene in the appeals, i.e., the date
when plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration of the preliminary injunc-
tion was denied.

As we noted in Siam Food, allowing such a broad excuse would en-
able almost any party to delay intervention upon a similar showing,
thus rendering “the actual time limit [of Rule 24] superfluous.” Siam
Food, 24 F. Supp. 2d at 281. “The court is not convinced that the cir-
cumstances that gave rise to this motion were genuinely outside the
reasonable control” of the Government of China. Home Prods. Int'l,
Inc. v. United States, 521 F. Supp. 2d 1382, 1385 (CIT 2007). The
Government of China had notice of the substantive issues raised by
the appeals and could have moved to intervene. Instead, it delayed
its decision on its involvement, awaiting a favorable determination
on a motion for preliminary injunction. There is no “excusable ne-
glect” present, but rather “a conscious decision not to intervene
timely.” Siam Food, 24 F. Supp. 2d at 280. Given the additional com-
plications adding another party would cause and given the lack of a

1The motion to amend will be granted, but it is unclear whether GPX on its own will liti-
gate any new issues.
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reasonable excuse for the untimely motion, the motion will be de-
nied.

For the foregoing reasons, the court finds that the Government of
China failed to establish good cause for its untimely submission of
this motion. Accordingly, the motion is denied.

B ——



ABSTRACTED CLASSIFICATION DECISIONS

DECISION
NO./DATE PORT OF ENTRY &
JUDGE PLAINTIFF COURT NO. ASSESSED HELD BASIS MERCHANDISE
C09/1 Little Tikes Co. 08-00161 9506.99.60 9503.90.00 Agreed statement facts Los Angeles
1/21/09 4% Free of duty Inflatable toys
Gordon, J.
C09/2 Lemans Corp. 04-00158 6202.93.35 6210.40.50 Agreed statement of facts Chicago
1/30/09 27.9% 2% Los Angeles
Carman, J. 6201.93.30 Various styles of men’s and
7.2% boy’s jackets
6114.30.30
15%
6210.40.50
7.2%
6110.30.30
32.2%
C09/3 Mattel, Inc. 03-00211 4202.92.45 9502.10.00 Agreed statement of facts Los Angeles
1/30/09 20% Free of duty Fashion Polly
Stanceu, J. 9502.10.00 “School Cool
Free of duty Fashion Pack”
retail sets
C09/4 Mattel, Inc. 06-00008 4202.92.45 9502.10.00 Agreed statement of facts Los Angeles
1/30/09 20% Free of duty Fashion Polly
Stanceu, J. 9502.10.00 “Best Friends

Free of duty

Fashion Pack”
retail sets
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